Case No. 71577

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

IN THE MATTER OF: THE W.N. CONNELL AND MARJORIE T. CONNELL LIVING TRUST, DATED MAY 18, 1972,

JACQUELINE M. MONTOYA; AND KATHRYN A. BOUVIER,

Appellants,

vs.

ELEANOR C. AHERN A/K/A ELEANOR CONNELL HARTMAN AHERN,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed May 04 2017 08:21 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable GLORIA STURMAN
District Court Case No. P-09-066425-T

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JOSEPH J. POWELL (SBN 8875)
DANIEL P. KIEFER (SBN 12419)
1707 Village Center Cir., Suite 150
Las Vegas, NV 89134
Telephone (702) 255-4552
e-mail: probate@rushforthfirm.com

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. May a trustee—who is also a beneficiary of the trust she administers—shield herself from the enforcement of a no-contest clause by claiming her inappropriate conduct was performed only while acting in her role as trustee?
- 2. May the district court refuse to enforce a broad no-contest clause pursuant to NRS 163.00195 while simultaneously holding that the contesting party has: (1) breached her duty of loyalty to the beneficiaries, (2) violated a court order by stealing millions of dollars from trust accounts which were to be segregated and preserved for the benefit of the trust's other beneficiaries, and (3) attempted to conceal her bad acts by filing an incomplete and intentionally inaccurate accounting with the court?
- 3. Does NRS 163.00195 provide the district court with discretion to refuse to enforce a no-contest clause based on a determination that enforcement would be a "harsh remedy"?

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Settlors Create the Trust

W.N. Connell, also known as William N. Connell ("William"), and Marjorie T. Connell ("Marjorie," and together with William, the "Settlors") established The W.N. Connell and Marjorie T. Connell Living Trust (the "Trust") by executing a written trust agreement on May 18, 1972 (the "Trust Agreement"). (1 AA 20). The Trust was set up for the benefit of: (1) the Settlors (2) William's daughter, Eleanor C. Ahern ("Ms. Ahern"), and (3) Ms. Ahern's children. (1 AA 21). Jacqueline Montoya ("Jacqueline") and Kathryn Bouvier (together with Jacqueline, the "Beneficiaries") are Ms. Ahern's daughters. (1 AA 69).

During the Settlors' joint lifetime, all Trust income and principal was to be administered for their benefit. (1 AA 21). Upon the death of one of the Settlors, the Trust allocated its assets between two sub-trusts, identified in the Trust Agreement as "Trust No. 2" ("Subtrust 2") and "Trust No. 3" ("Subtrust 3") (1 AA 22-25).

B. The Settlors Include a No Contest Clause in the Trust Agreement

The Trust Agreement includes an *in terrorem* provision, or no contest clause (the "No Contest Clause") (1 AA 0031). The Trust's No Contest Clause reads as follows:

<u>TENTH</u>: <u>NON-CONTEST PROVISION</u>. The Grantors specifically desire that these trusts created herein be administered and distributed without litigation or dispute of any kind. If any beneficiary of these trusts or any other person, whether stranger,

relatives or heirs, or any legatees or devisees under the Last Will and Testament of the Grantors or the successors in interest of any such persons, including any person who may be entitled to receive any portion of the Granters' estates under the intestate laws of the State of Nevada, seek or establish to assert any claim to the assets of these trusts established herein, or attack, oppose or seek to set aside the administration and distribution of the said trusts, or to have the same declared null and void or diminished, or to defeat or change any part of the provisions of the trust established herein, then in any and all of the above mentioned. cases and events, such person or persons shall receive One Dollar (\$1.00) and no more in lieu of any interest in the assets of the trusts.

(*Id.*). The plain language of the No Contest Clause makes clear that its provisions apply to "all trusts" created under the Trust Agreement (i.e. the Trust and Subtrusts). (*Id.*).

C. The Texas Property

The Trust's main asset is real property located in Upton County, Texas (the "Texas Property") (3 AA 712-13). The Texas Property has certain oil, gas, and mineral rights associated with it. (3 AA 712). The Texas Property produces income in the form of oil royalties and lease payments. (*Id.*).

D. William Dies and the Subtrusts Are Created

William died on November 24, 1979. (1 AA 42; 3 AA 712). Upon his death, Subtrust 2 and Subtrust 3 were created. (3 AA 712). As the surviving Settlor, Marjorie became the beneficiary of Subtrust 3 and Ms. Ahern became the beneficiary of Subtrust 2. (3 AA 712-13). Subtrust 3 provided Marjorie with the

ability to exercise a testamentary power of appointment over trust assets in favor of anyone she desired (the "Power of Appointment"). (1 AA 25; 3 AA 712-13).

The allocation of Trust assets between Subtrusts was made in a manner which maximized the marital estate tax deduction for Marjorie. (3 AA 713). This resulted in a 65% allocation of Trust assets to Subtrust 3, and 35% to Subtrust. 2.⁵ (3 AA 713-14).

After William's death, Marjorie acted as sole trustee of the Trust. (3 AA 714). However, on May 6, 1980, Marjorie and Ms. Ahern executed a Substitution of Trustee which added Ms. Ahern as a co-trustee of the Trust. (1 AA 39-40; 3 AA 714). Ms. Ahern served as a co-trustee of the Trust with Marjorie for a period of twenty-nine years (the "Co-Trustee Period") (3 AA 714-15). During the Co-Trustee Period, all Trust distributions were made to the Subtrusts in accordance with the 65/35 allocation described above. (3 AA 714).

E. Marjorie Executes Her Power of Appointment and Dies Shortly Thereafter

On January 7, 2008, Marjorie exercised her Power of Appointment through the execution of a will. (1 AA 53; 3 AA 714-15). Marjorie's exercise caused Subtrust 3's allocation of Trust assets, including the income derived therefrom (i.e. the 65%), to transfer to the MTC Living Trust (the "MTC Trust") upon her death.

⁵ As more fully detailed below, the precise split was 64.493%/35.507%.

(*Id.*). The beneficiaries of the MTC Trust are Marjorie's granddaughters (i.e. the Beneficiaries) (1 AA 69, 79-88; 3 AA 714). Jacqueline is the sole trustee of the MTC Trust. (1 AA 70).

Marjorie died on May 1, 2009, and the 65% interest in Trust assets, including all income derived therefrom, vested in the MTC Trust. (3 AA 714). As a result of Marjorie's death, Ms. Ahern became the sole trustee of the Trust. (3 AA 714-15).

F. Ms. Ahern Abruptly Stops All Distributions to the MTC Trust

Between May 2, 2009 (the date of Marjorie's death, which ended the Co-Trustee Period) and the close of May 2013, Ms. Ahern made all applicable distributions to the MTC Trust and Subtrust 2 in accordance with the 65/35 allocation (3 AA 714-15). In June of 2013, after 33 years of the Trust making 65/35 distributions, Ms. Ahern inexplicably ceased making distributions to the MTC Trust. (3 AA 715). Prior to ceasing all distributions, Ms. Ahern did not seek any instruction from any court. (3 AA 715; 4 AA 750).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Litigation Commences

Shortly after Ms. Ahern abruptly ceased payment of the required Trust distributions to the MTC Trust, Jacqueline, as trustee of the MTC Trust, filed her petition seeking declaratory relief pursuant to NRS 30.040, NRS 153.031(1)(e), and

NRS 164.033(1)(a) (the "Distribution Petition").⁶ (1 AA 1-18). Simply stated, the Distribution Petition sought declaratory relief regarding the longstanding 65/35 split of Trust income between the Subtrusts. (*Id.*).

B. The District Court Orders Ms. Ahern to Protect the Beneficiaries' Interest

On November 12, 2013, the district court held an interim hearing on the Distribution Petition. (2 AA 274). At this hearing, the Beneficiaries asked that the district court issue an order requiring Ms. Ahern to resume the distribution *status quo* (i.e. resume 65% payments to the MTC Trust) pending the court's final determination of the Distribution Petition. (2 AA 316). At the urging of Ms. Ahern's counsel (2 AA 321-22), the district court declined to reinstate the *status quo*, and instead ordered Ms. Ahern, as trustee, to impound and safeguard the Beneficiaries'/MTC Trust's 65% interest until an ultimate determination could be made after an evidentiary hearing. (2 AA 322; 324; 328; 335).

On January 6, 2014, the district court entered its Order Denying Motion to Refer Contested Probate Matter to Master-Probate Commissioner Per EDCR 4.16; Directing Payment of All Oil, Gas, Mineral and Interest Royalties and Rent to Eleanor C. Hartman, Also Known as Eleanor C. Ahern, as Trustee of Trust No. 2 of the W.N. Connell and Marjorie Connell Living Trust Dated May 18, 1972; and

⁶ Although this matter began in 2009, the events relevant to this appeal began when the Distribution Petition was filed.

Setting Calendar Call and Hearing (the "Segregation Order"), which memorialized its oral ruling at the November 12, 2013 hearing. (2 AA 344-48). Specifically, the Segregation Order required the Beneficiaries' 65% interest in "oil, gas, mineral, and interest royalties and surface rent" from the Texas Property, "*shall* be held in the Trust" pending final resolution of the Distribution Petition. (2 AA 347-48) (emphasis added).

Ms. Ahern's duty to safeguard the Beneficiaries' 65% interest outlined in the Segregation Order was reiterated by the district court at subsequent hearings held on January 14, 2014 (2 AA 365), January 24, 2014 (2 AA 383), and May 13, 2014 (2 AA 426-30). On July 7, 2014, the district court memorialized its oral ruling from the May 13, 2014 hearing with its Order: Re Pending Motions and Scheduling (the "July 2014 Order") (2 AA 456-63). The July 2014 Order reiterated Ms. Ahern's duty to safeguard the Beneficiaries' 65% interest unless, and until: (1) a final determination was made regarding the Distribution Petition, or (2) the Beneficiaries posted a bond. (2 AA 461-62).

At an April 22, 2014 hearing, Ms. Ahern (through counsel) acknowledged her duties under the Segregation Order and ensured the court the Beneficiaries' interest was being "isolated" and "not touched" in accordance with the Segregation Order (2 AA 391).

///

C. Summary Judgment, the False Accounting, and Ms. Ahern's Removal

On January 14, 2015, the district court again reiterated Ms. Ahern's obligations to hold and protect the Beneficiaries' monies under the Segregation Order. (3 AA 563-64). The court also explained that although Ms. Ahern had clear obligations to safeguard these funds, the only way to ensure that Ms. Ahern was meeting these duties was through the production of a Trust accounting. (*Id.*).

On January 30, 2015, the district court heard arguments on the parties' competing motions for summary judgment related to the relief requested in the Distribution Petition. (3 AA 711). The court granted summary judgment in favor of the Beneficiaries and determined that the MTC Trust was entitled to 65% of the Trust's income. (3 AA 723). As part of its summary judgment ruling, the court ordered Ms. Ahern to produce an accounting for the Trust related to relevant portions of 2013, 2014, and 2015. (3 AA 724)

On March 13, 2015, Ms. Ahern filed the required accounting (albeit false) with the court (the "False Accounting"). (8 AA 1632). Ms. Ahern attested to the accuracy and veracity of the financial information set forth in the False Accounting under penalty of perjury (*Id.*).

The district court later addressed the False Accounting at a hearing on March 20, 2015. (3 AA 606). The court was troubled by Ms. Ahern's: (1) use of Trust funds to rent office space, (2) improper allocation of Trust expenses, (3) excessive

trustee fees, and (4) inappropriate Trust investments (Ms. Ahern deposited \$500,000 with an unknown, uninsured, third-party). (3 AA 664-68). As a result of Ms. Ahern's actions, the court announced: "[Ms. Ahern] cannot be trusted to maintain control over this [Trust] money because who knows what other inappropriate investments she'll put it in." (3 AA 669). At this same hearing, the court determined that Ms. Ahern could not remain in control of the Trust (i.e. she had to be replaced as trustee) (3 AA 668). The court also announced that Ms. Ahern's deliberate cessation of Trust distributions without seeking or obtaining prior court approval was a breach of Ms. Ahern's fiduciary duties. (3 AA 683-84; *see also* 4 AA 750).

On April 1, 2015, the district court entered its Order Appointing New Temporary Trustee (the "Temporary Trustee Order") (3 AA 686). The Temporary Trustee Order replaced Ms. Ahern as trustee of the Trust with Frederick P. Waid, Esq. (the "Court-Appointed Trustee"). (*Id.*). The Temporary Trustee Order also admonished Ms. Ahern to "fully cooperate with [the Court-Approved Trustee] in providing to him all pertinent information concerning the Trust's current business transactions and dealings and in making this transition in trusteeship of the Trust." (3 AA 687).

D. The Court-Appointed Trustee's Affidavit

On May 6, 2015, the Court-Appointed Trustee, submitted an affidavit to the district court which detailed his preliminary findings regarding Ms. Ahern's actions

in relation to the administration of the Trust. (4 AA 772-76). The Court-Appointed Trustee's affidavit concluded:

Since my appointment as Trustee and in the course of my investigation of the financial affairs of the Trust for 2013, 2014 and 2015 year to date, I have discovered numerous potential violations of other Court orders by Ms. Ahern regarding the expenditure and use of Trust funds. These matters will be brought to the Court's attention after the completion of an audit of Ms. Ahern's tenure as Trustee.

(4 AA 775).

On June 3, 2015, the Beneficiaries filed their Motion for Assessment of Damages Against Eleanor Ahern; Enforcement of No-Contest Clause; and Surcharge of Eleanor's Trust Income (the "Surcharge Petition"). (4 AA 845). Among other things, the Surcharge Petition sought enforcement of the Trust's No Contest Clause against Ms. Ahern based on her breach of fiduciary duty, multiple violations of numerous court orders, theft of the Beneficiaries' money, and submission of the False Accounting. (4 AA 845-57).

E. The Evidentiary Hearing

On February 22, 2016 and March 3, 2016, the district court conducted an evidentiary hearing regarding the allegations contained in the Surcharge Petition. (7 AA 1305; 8 AA 1521). At the evidentiary hearing, the Court-Appointed Trustee offered extensive testimony regarding his investigation into Ms. Ahern's actions. (7 AA 1360-1468). Among other things, the Court-Appointed Trustee testified that:

- There were a variety of discrepancies in the False Accounting (7 AA 1397-98);
- The segregated Trust account *should* have held approximately \$2 million in Trust assets at the time the Court-Appointed Trustee took office, but they contained less than \$10,000 (7 AA 1398);
- Ms. Ahern withdrew in excess of \$400,000 from a Wells Fargo branch in Orange County, California hours after being removed by the court as trustee (7 AA 1400);
- Ms. Ahern withdrew an additional \$500,000 from a Wells Fargo branch in St.
 George, Utah three days after being removed by the court as trustee (7 AA 1401-03);
- On April 14, 2015, almost one month after being removed as trustee, Ms.
 Ahern withdrew another \$100,000 from a Trust bank account (7 AA 1404-05);
- Ms Ahern failed to safeguard the MTC Trust's 65% interest between
 December 2013 and March 20, 2015 as required by the Segregation Order (7 AA 1406);
- During this same period, Ms. Ahern "treated the Trust and its income as her own. She lived lavishly [and] used Trust money to hire professionals between Texas and California." (*Id.*); and

• An estimated \$2.1 million properly payable as distributions to the MTC Trust had been taken by Ms. Ahern for her personal use (7 AA 1416; 1420-21).

Ms. Ahern did not testify at the evidentiary hearing; nor did she present any witnesses to refute or rebuff the Court-Appointed Trustee's findings relating to her actions. (7 AA 1306).

In light of the Court-Appointed Trustee's unrefuted testimony, the district court explained that:

- It was "troubled" by Ms. Ahern's "very gross misuse" of Trust funds (8 AA 1595-97);
- Ms. Ahern's "shocking" actions likely justified "criminal prosecution" (8 AA 1596);
- Ms. Ahern's actions were "very willful and malicious," and "something that needs to be punished" (8 AA 1597-98)
- Ms. Ahern's failure to abide by the Segregation Order constituted contempt (*Id.*); and
- Ms. Ahern was "lying to the court about how much money she was holding" (8 AA 1610).

F. The Surcharge Order

On September 19, 2016, the district court released its official ruling on the Surcharge Petition by filing its Order Regarding Motion for Assessment of

Damages; Enforcement of No Contest Clause; and Surcharge of Trust Income (the "Surcharge Order"). (8 AA 1617). Based on the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing, the district court found:

- 1. Ms. Ahern, as Trustee, *did not comply with the Court order* to protect the 65% share of the Trust that was to be segregated under the terms of the Trust for the Movants, Ms. Montoya and Ms. Bouvier.
- 2. Ms. Ahern's *failure to properly apply her duties as a Trustee* does not warrant imposition of the harsh remedy of imposition of the no-contest clause, specifically her failure to seek Court approval before ceasing payments to the Movants. Therefore, the Court will not enforce the no-contest clause as against Ms. Ahern as beneficiary.
- 3. Ms. Ahern's failure to comply with the Courts Order to protect the Movants 65% share however, resulted in a *misapplication of the Trust income*, *which deprived the Movants of funds owed to them under the terms of the Trust*. Ms. Ahern's misapplication of Trust funds warrants a surcharge against Ms. Ahern's 35% share of the Trust, to be paid to the Movants, in an amount to be determined at a future hearing to be set by this Court.
- 4. Additional briefing and argument is needed on the issues of punitive and treble damages. It is expected that the additional briefing on such damages and the hearing on the total *amount owed to Movants*, will be scheduled after the Successor Trustee, Fredrick P. Waid ("Mr. Waid") finalizes his accounting for the Court.
- 5. Until such time as the Court decides the total amounts owed by Ms. Ahern, it is *necessary to withhold all distributions to Ms. Ahern*, other than those amounts previously approved as advancements by the Court's *Order Instructing Trustee to Advance Funds* dated December 29, 2015, which was entered on January 5, 2016. The suspension of Ms. Ahern's share under this order will be effective thirty (30) days after Notice of Entry is filed with respect to this Order. This ruling does not suspend or modify the Court's

Order on Petition for Instructions Regarding Allocations of Eleanor Ahern's 2015 Trust Unpaid Distributions

- 6. In further violation of this Court's Orders, Ms. Ahern removed some funds from Trust accounts before turning those accounts over to the Successor Trustee, Mr. Waid. Some funds have since been turned over to the Successor Trustee, however, until such time as Mr. Waid can provide an Accounting the Court cannot rule on Ms. Ahern's potential liability. The exact amount of any damages resulting from these serious breaches of fiduciary duty will be determined at a later evidentiary hearing.
- 7. NRS Chapter 165 imposes a fiduciary duty on Ms. Ahern[;] as Trustee, [she] had to account for all assets and income received by her and for all distributions made by her. Although Ms. Ahern has been removed or suspended from her role as Trustee, she has not [been] discharged from her fiduciary duties pending her compliance, and the Court's approval of the accounting to be filed by the successor Trustee, Mr. Waid. The Court found that *the account Ms. Ahern filed. under penalty of perjury on March 13, 2015 titled "Brief Regarding Accounting Fiduciary Duties, and Trust Administration," was incomplete and intentionally inaccurate.* Ms. Ahern, therefore, remains statutorily obligated to cooperate with the successor Trustee, Mr. Waid, in furtherance of Mr. Waid's accounting, until such time as the Court enters a full and complete discharge of Ms. Ahern.
- 8. Movant's seek punitive damages, which requires a finding of willful and malicious conduct. In the alternative, Movants seek treble damages for breach of fiduciary duty. *Ms. Ahern's conduct was shocking and needs to be dealt with in a serious fashion*, but the final decision on whether punitive and/or treble damages should be awarded in addition to restitution will be made at the evidentiary hearing to be scheduled after Mr. Waid concludes discovery and prepares his report and accounting to the Court.

(8 AA 1618-20) (emphasis added).

In other words, the district court found that Ms. Ahern's conduct was: (1) "serious," (2) "shocking," and (3) in violation of multiple court orders (i.e. contemptuous). Additionally, the court determined that Ms. Ahern: (1) failed to safeguard (and misallocated) Trust assets, (2) owed the Beneficiaries a substantial amount of money, (3) lied about her conduct (i.e. the False Accounting), and (4) breached various fiduciary duties. Ms. Ahern's conduct was determined so egregious that the district court ordered the Court-Appointed Trustee to stop providing her Trust distributions.

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