#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \*

IN THE MATTER OF: THE W.N. CONNELL AND MARJORIE T. CONNELL LIVING TRUST, DATED MAY 18, 1972,

JACQUELINE M. MONTOYA; AND KATHRYN A. BOUVIER,

Appellants,

VS.

ELEANOR C. AHERN A/K/A ELEANOR CONNELL HARTMAN AHERN,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Supreme Court No.: Alfo 04 2017 09:32 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

District Court Case No. in Supreme Court P-09-066425-T

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, The Honorable Gloria Sturman Presiding

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP Kirk B. Lenhard, Esq., NV Bar No. 1437

klenhard@bhfs.com

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

#### VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The No-Contest Clause must be strictly construed and must not be expanded beyond the clear intentions of the Settlors. Based on this narrow application, the No-Contest Clause at issue here is not triggered. To begin, the evidence demonstrates that Ms. Ahern's conduct was not fueled by some intention to permanently take funds from the Trust in an attempt to disregard her parents' wishes. Because the plain language of the No-Contest Clause dictates that it is only triggered by such intentional conduct, the clause is inapplicable here.

Further, as the District Court held, Ms. Ahern's conduct amounted to nothing more than a breach of her fiduciary duties as the Trustee – a breach for which she has been significantly punished. If the Settlors would have intended such conduct to trigger the No-Contest Clause, they would have stated so in the clause. This, they did not do. Moreover, upon a review of the evidence before the Court, there can be no debate that Ms. Ahern has been subjected to undue influence and manipulation by others who wish to dupe her for their own financial gain. Because of this manipulation, the No-Contest Clause cannot disinherit Ms. Ahern. This is both because the Settlors did not express such a desire and because there is strong public policy against elderly abuse and

punishing a person for conduct that was done at the direction of others who are sitting to gain from such actions.

As such, the No-Contest Clause is not triggered and any finding to the contrary would be unjust. The Surcharge Order, therefore, should be affirmed.

#### VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellants challenge the District Court's finding that Ms. Ahern was acting in her capacity as Trustee when she engaged in the conduct at issue. (*See* OB at Section V(B).) "A district court's findings [of fact] will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous and are not based on substantial evidence." *Hannam v. Brown*, 114 Nev. 350, 357, 956 P.2d 794, 799 (1998) (quoting *Gibellini v. Klindt*, 110 Nev. 1201, 1204, 885 P.2d 540, 542 (1994)).

Appellants also challenge the applicability of the No-Contest Clause. "While a party's conduct is a question of fact, whether said conduct violates a no-contest clause is a legal question reviewed de novo." *Jones v. Jones*, No. 66632, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 551, at \*10-11 (July 14, 2016)<sup>5</sup> (citing *Redman-Tafoya v. Armijo*, 138 N.M. 836, 126 P.3d 1200, 1210 (N.M. Ct. App. 2005)); *see also In re Estate of Davies*, 127 Cal. App. 4th 1164, 1173, 26 Cal. Rptr. 3d 239, 246 (Ct. App. 2005)).

29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This case is unpublished.

Notably, even if this Court does not agree with the District Court's reasoning, if the ultimate conclusion is correct, the Court will affirm. *See Rosenstein v. Steele*, 103 Nev. 571, 575, 747 P.2d 230, 233 (1987) (holding that "this court will affirm the order of the district court if it reached the correct result, albeit for different reasons.") Under these standards, this Court should affirm the District Court's Surcharge Order.

### VIII. ARGUMENT

# A. The Law Abhors A Forfeiture And No-Contest Clauses Are Strictly Construed.

It is well-settled in Nevada that "[t]he law abhors a forfeiture." *Organ v. Winnemucca State Bank & Trust Co.*, 55 Nev. 72, 77, 26 P.2d 237, 238 (1933). Consistent with this view, "no-contest provisions are looked upon with some disfavor and have been strictly construed, despite their discouragement of unmeritorious litigation, unnecessary expense to the testator's estate and familial disharmony." Claudia G. Catalano, *What Constitutes Contest Or Attempt To Defeat Will Within Provision Thereof Forfeiting Share Of Contesting Beneficiary*, 3 A.L.R.5th 590, § 2(a) (1992). As such, "[a] breach of a forfeiture clause will be declared only when the acts of a party come strictly within its express terms." *See id* (citing Am. Jur. 2d, Wills § 1569); *see also Estate of Kaila*, 94 Cal. App. 4th 1122, 1128, 114 Cal. Rptr. 2d 865, 870 (2001) (stating

that no-contest clauses are "disfavored by the policy against forfeitures and therefore are strictly construed and may not extend beyond what plainly was the testator's intent."); *Saier v. Saier*, 366 Mich. 515, 520, 115 N.W.2d 279, 281 (1962) ("[A]ll authorities agree that, even in those jurisdictions where conditions against contest are held valid, such conditions are punitive and construable strictly."); *Ivancovich v. Meier*, 122 Ariz. 346, 352, 595 P.2d 24, 30 (1979) (noting that "in terrorem clauses are strictly construed").

Even the case law cited by Appellants holds that "[a]lthough no contest clauses are enforceable and favored by the public policies of discouraging litigation and preserving the transferor's intent, they are nevertheless strictly construed and may not be extended beyond their plainly intended function." Johnson v. Greenelsh, 47 Cal. 4th 598, 604, 100 Cal. Rptr. 3d 622, 627, 217 P.3d 1194, 1198 (2009) (emphasis added). Consistent with this principal, "[w]hether there has been a 'contest' within the meaning of a particular no-contest clause depends upon the circumstances of the particular case and the language used." Id (citation omitted.) Put another way, a nocontest clause will not be enforced unless, after examining all of the circumstances of the case and the exact language utilized in the clause, there is no doubt that the conduct fits squarely within the clause.

In making this determination, Courts, including this Court, "recognize the paramount rule in the construction of wills that the ascertainment and effectuation of the testator's intention is controlling." 3 A.L.R.5th 590, § 2(a) (citing Am. Jur. 2d, Wills § 1140); see also Hannam, 114 Nev. at 356, 956 P.2d at 798 ("This court has historically construed trusts in a manner effecting the of the settlor.") apparent intent (citation omitted). The ultimate question, therefore, is the meaning of the words used in the nocontest clause. 3 A.L.R.5th 590, § 2(a). Courts are cautioned, however, to remember that because two settlors "rarely use the same language, and the same words used under different circumstances may express a different intent, courts need not adhere rigidly to precedent in construing no-contest clauses." 3 A.L.R.5th 590, § 2(a) (citing Am. Jur. 2d, Wills § 1131).

Under these guiding principles, it is clear that the No-Contest Clause is not applicable and this Court should affirm the District Court's Surcharge Order.

# B. The No-Contest Clause Is Inapplicable And Cannot Be Enforced Against Ms. Ahern.

A simple review of the No-Contest Clause in the Trust demonstrates that the conduct Ms. Ahern has engaged in does *not* fall within the scope of the clause. The plain language of the No-Contest Clause is as follows:

TENTH: NON-CONTEST PROVISION. The Grantors specifically desire that these trusts created herein be administered and

distributed without litigation or dispute of any kind. If any beneficiary of these trusts or any other person, whether stranger, relatives or heirs, or any legatees or devisees under the Last Will and Testament of the Grantors or the successors in interest or any such persons, including any person who may be entitled to receive any portion of the Grantors' estates under the intestate laws of the State of Nevada, seek or establish to assert any claim to the assets of these trusts established herein, or attack, oppose or seek to set aside the administration and distribution of the said trusts, or to have the same declared null and void or diminished, or to defeat or change any part of the provisions of the trust established herein, then in any and all of the above mentioned cases any events, such person or persons shall receive One Dollar (\$1.00) and no more in lieu of any interest in the assets of the trusts.

(1 AA 31.) As set forth in the Surcharge Order, the Court properly held that the No-Contest Clause has no application here due to the fact that her actions were taken in her role as a Trustee. (8 AA 1618.) Beyond this sound ruling, the No-Contest Clause is also inapplicable because the conduct engaged in does not – when strictly construed – fit into the language of the clause. Further, the documentary and testimonial evidence in this action demonstrates that Ms. Ahern was influenced by others and, therefore, she cannot be stripped of her interest in the Trust. As such, this Court should affirm the District Court's Surcharge Order in its entirety.

# 1. The plain language of the No-Contest Clause at issue here clearly dictates that Ms. Ahern's conduct is outside its scope.

Appellants attempt to paint the No-Contest Clause with a "broad" brush (see OB at 26-27) but, as dictated by the law, the clause must be strictly

construed and cannot be applied to conduct outside the precise language in the clause. *See Estate of Kaila*, 94 Cal. App. 4th at 1128, 114 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 870 (stating that no-contest clauses are "disfavored by the policy against forfeitures and therefore are strictly construed and may not extend beyond what plainly was the testator's intent.") When viewing the clause under this defined lens, there can be no doubt that it is inapplicable here.

# a. As admitted by Appellants, the first portions of the No-Contest Clause are inapplicable here.

It is without debate that certain portions of the No-Contest Clause are clearly inapplicable here. That is, there is no evidence that Ms. Ahern, in bad faith, sought or "establish[ed] to assert any claim to the assets" of the Trust or to "have the same declared null and void or diminished, or to defeat or change any part of the provisions of the trust established herein." (*See* Section V, *supra.*) In fact, Appellants do not even argue that these provisions trigger the No-Contest Clause. (*See generally*, OB.) Further, any such argument would be futile, as the District Court already determined that the dispute between the parties as to the 65/35 split was brought in good faith. (6 AA 1242.)

As such, the only provision remaining to address is the following: "attack, oppose or seek to set aside the administration and distribution of the said trusts."

As discussed below, this provision is also inapplicable. The Surcharge Order, therefore, must be Affirmed.

# b. The remaining portion of the No-Contest Clause is equally inapplicable.

The only provision of the No-Contest Clause at issue in the appeal is the following prohibition: "attack, oppose or seek to set aside the administration and distribution of the said trusts." Based on the plain language of this provision and the evidence – both documentary and testimonial – it is inapplicable.

Before turning to this analysis, it is important to keep in mind that the No-Contest Clause must be narrowly construed and will only apply when the conduct comes "strictly within its express terms." *See* 3 A.L.R.5th 590, § 2(a) ("A breach of a forfeiture clause will be declared only when the acts of a party come strictly within its express terms."); *see also Estate of Kaila*, 94 Cal. App. 4th at 1128, 114 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 870 (stating that no-contest clauses are "disfavored by the policy against forfeitures and therefore are strictly construed and may not extend beyond what plainly was the testator's intent.")

i. The conduct here does not fit squarely within the defined terms in the No-Contest Clause.

As a preliminary matter, the word "attack" is at once extremely broad to the point of vagueness, and also extremely specific, in that it connotes an intentional act designed to injure or destroy. Merriam Webster defines "attack" as follows: "to set upon or work against forcefully." The phrase "to set upon or work against" means the actor has intent to accomplish such destruction. Similarly, to "oppose" something, the actor must have intent. "Oppose" is defined as "to offer resistance to." The term "set" something aside also carries with it the same intention component, as it is defined as to "put to one side."

There is no indication in the record that Ms. Ahern's mishandling of funds involved an intent to take any such actions against the Trust. In fact, according to Mr. Waid, during his first conversation with Ms. Ahern she stated matter-of-factly that she believed she owed the Trust around \$800,000. This suggests the use of the funds was more akin to a loan than a theft and, indeed a loan from the Trust appears to be permissible under Article Eighth(D): "nor shall any person borrow the principal or income of the trust estates, directly or indirectly, without adequate interest in any case or without adequate security therefor." (1 AA 29.) As Trustee, Ms. Ahern would have had the power to authorize a loan. *See Johnson*, 47 Cal. 4th at 605, 217 P.3d at 1200 (noting that "an indirect contest is one that attacks the validity of an instrument by seeking relief inconsistent with

<sup>6</sup> See https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/attack, last visited August 3, 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/oppose, last visited August 3, 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/set, last visited August 3, 2017.

its terms"). In any case, that Ms. Ahern intends to pay back any amounts that exceeded her 35% is demonstrative that she had no intent to permanently injure or destroy the Trust.

ii. The Settlors did not expressly desire in the No-Contest Clause for Ms. Ahern's conduct to trigger the forfeiture.

Furthermore, had the settlors intended a trustee's breach of duty, or a mishandling of funds, to constitute an attack on, an opposition to, or to set aside the Trust, they would have included it in the no-contest clause:

Had the settlors...wished to include challenges to the trustees' administration of the trust within the scope of the no contest clause, it was essential that they have said so. They did not say so, however...The trial court erred in ruling otherwise and in removing appellant from the trust as a consequence.

*In re Pennington Trust*, No. B174564, 2005 WL 1774937, at \*6 (Cal. Ct. App. July 28, 2005) (emphasis added).<sup>9</sup>

[A] "contest" is not confined to a *direct* attack on a will or trust instrument, but may include a separate legal proceeding that would thwart or nullify or unravel the testator's *expressed wishes*.

In re Estate of Davies, 127 Cal. App. 4th at 1175, 26 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 248 (second emphasis added).

Applying the doctrine of strict construction to the no contest clause, the appellate court also held that the proposed challenge would not effect a forfeiture of the son's right to recover under the decedent's trust, because the no contest provision in the original trust made no

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This case is unpublished.

mention of amendments to the trust or that any contest or challenge to any amendment would result in a forfeiture. The court recognized that, only where an act comes strictly within the express terms of the forfeiture clause may a breach thereof be declared.

In re Estate of Herold, 162 Cal. App. 4th 983, 997, 76 Cal. Rptr. 3d 546, 557 (2008) (internal citations and alterations omitted) (emphasis added).

It has long been the rule in this state that no contest clauses in a will are not to be extended beyond what was plainly the testator's intent. There is no reason why this same rule should not be applied to inter vivos trusts. Such clauses must be strictly construed, and no wider scope is to be given to their language than is plainly required [citations]. Only where an act comes strictly within the express terms of the forfeiture clause may a breach thereof be declared.

Scharlin v. Superior Court, 9 Cal. App. 4th 162, 168-69, 11 Cal. Rptr. 2d 448, 452 (1992) (internal citations and alterations omitted) (emphasis added).

Here, the Settlors did not express a desire for a trustee's breach of duty or mishandling of trust funds to fall within the scope of the No-Contest Clause, and, as such, Ms. Ahern's actions were certainly not an attempt to permanently thwart the intent of her father and mother. Moreover, the remedies for such actions are different and separate from forfeiture under the No-Contest Clause (removal as Trustee, surcharge of interest, etc.). This is consistent with the arguments Appellants' counsel made at the Evidentiary Hearing: the remedy is to require the funds to be repaid. (*See* Section V(J)(1), *supra*.) The remedy is

not a forfeiture of the trustee/beneficiary's interest in the Trust. *See* NRS 153.031(3).

iii. Appellants' argument regarding conversion and fraud is a red herring and fatally flawed.

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